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The Rehabilitation of the
Col. Robert Means Mansion,
Amherst, New Hampshire

By Bill Veillette'

The Col. Robert Means “mansion house” (1785) is
located in Amherst, New Hampshire, directly off the
southeast corner of what was known as “The Plain,”
where livestock used to graze and the militia once
drilled (1.1). Thirty-two-year-old Robert Means, a
budding merchant, acquired the initial quarter acre of
the property in 1774 “with the Shop & barn thereon
built by Me [Paul Dudley Sargent].”? The “Shop,”
which presumably became Robert Means’s store,
stood “on [the] line of [the] front fence, and [had] but
a drive-way between” it and the main block of the
house.® The store was moved slightly westward by
Abby Means in 1846, where it burned in the Great Fire
of 1863. Although the 1774 ell is the oldest part of the
house, the 1785 main block with its high Georgian
style and dominant stature is used to “date” the struc-
ture.

Ownership of the Means mansion passed down
through blood descendants and marriage until 1955
when it was sold for the first time. Although fifteen
families have lived in the house over its 235 years, it is
remarkable how much of its historic integrity is intact.
It has never been subjected to the touch of an architect,
which, ironically, might account for the survival of its

classical form. And, where it has seen alterations, al-
most all of the evidence is still there to be able to de-
termine its original shape and features and how they
have changed over time.

The house has dodged a few bullets, however. The
first was in 1788 when Michael Keef, a struggling
yeoman, unfairly accused Robert Means, by now a
wealthy merchant, of “grinding the face of the poor.”
He threatened Means with “trouble.” Keef was later
convicted of arson, which may have been the trouble
he had in mind. Next, the roof of the house caught fire
during town meeting in 1797. Because it was a stone’s
throw away from the meetinghouse, the mansion “was
saved by there being plenty of help nearby.” There
was also the Great Fire of 1863 when Means’s adja-
cent store and three neighboring buildings on The
Plain burned in the middle of the night. Fortunately,
Deacon Edward Dudley Boylston (1814-1895)
“stayed...an incipient blaze” at the Means mansion
with “The Yankee,” the town’s trusty hand-pump.®

Besides the threat of fire, there was the danger of
overzealous alteration. In 1885, Deacon Boylston
praised Anna Kent Carruth and her mother for making
“pleasant improvements” around the Col. Robert
Means mansion and “in preserving it in its original
form.”” Nearly 100 years later, in 1983, a persistent
businessman pressured the then brand new owners of
the house to sell it to him for a quick profit; he was
attracted by its expansive back lot and wanted to “im-
prove” the property. Fortunately, the new owners re-
sisted. The man took his project to a more suitable lo-
cation on the outskirts of the village and built a 10,013

square foot house—twice
the size of the Means
mansion. Thirteen years
later, in 1996, a couple
looked at the house,

T R which was again for sale,

and the wife rejected it
because, “It had bad kar-
ma.” They went on to
purchase another impor-
tant historic property in
the village, hollow it out
to its brick walls, and re-
model it with “Colonial”
features to suit their own
tastes.

Finally, there was the
commotion in the 1980s
when the Selectmen de-
cided the village needed
more parking. They pro-
posed paving over the
small common directly in

1.1 Col. Robert Means mansion, Amherst, N.H., decorated for July 4, 2004 celebrations.
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1.2 For residents of Amherst, the Merrimack River was a barrier to points east, but a virtual highway to Massachusetts. B. Tanner, The
State of New Hampshire, compiled chiefly from actual surveys, 1796 (New York: John Reid, 1796).

front of the Means mansion to create a 42-space park-
ing lot. Happily, the proposal met with stiff resistance
and was soundly defeated by the citizens at town meet-
ing.

My wife Tracy and | purchased the Col. Robert
Means mansion in January 1998.% For the next three
years, | researched the house and its occupants, and
made plans for its rehabilitation. Work started in
March 2001 and was substantially completed by Au-
gust 2003. What follows is a description of the house,
its associations, its principal features, and the more
interesting aspects of its rehabilitation.

THE LOCATION

Developers know that to appreciate the value of real
estate one must understand its “location, location, lo-
cation.” Likewise, to appreciate the history of a build-
ing, one must understand its historic location. Amherst
is in southern New Hampshire, just one town away
from the Massachusetts border. When it was settled in
1735, “Narragansett No. 3” (i.e., Amherst) was under

the Bay Colony, but soon became part of New Hamp-
shire when the current border was established in the
latter’s favor by King George Il in 1740. In 1760, the
very year the French and Indian Wars ended, Amherst
was incorporated as a town.

Counties were formally established in 1771, and
Ambherst was named the shire town for Hillsborough
County. Being the county seat came with economic
benefits, and Amherst quickly became the principal
trading center west of the Merrimack River. By 1790,
Amherst was the sixth largest town in the state and the
most populous west of the Merrimack. At the time,
most of New Hampshire’s people lived in the Piscata-
qua region—anchored by Portsmouth—and in the
Scots-Irish enclave of Londonderry.® Although Am-
herst came under the jurisdiction of New Hampshire, it
was economically linked more to Boston than to
Portsmouth. This is because the Merrimack River was
a barrier to the Piscataqua, but a virtual highway offer-
ing easy access downriver to Massachusetts (1.2).

Robert Means was a merchant who saw an opportu-
nity to increase his business by settling in a shire town.
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Means House.

Means Store.

Lawrence Store. Hardy Tavern.  Stewart House.

1.3 Main street of Amherst as it might have looked before the Great Fire of 1863. Philip S. Avery, Amherst, N.H., 1916.

He moved to Amherst in 1774 from the neighboring
town of Merrimack where he had been established in
the mercantile business with his cousin, Jacob
McGaw. Proximity to traffic being critical, Means set
up shop on The Plain in sight of the brand new meet-
inghouse, principal taverns, and future new court-
house. The Plain of Amherst was the perfect inland
setting for an ambitious young merchant (1.3).

Today, Amherst’s
village is a quiet
neighborhood  with
only three commer-
cial establishments
and no tourists. It is
listed in the National
Register of Historic
Places and is also a
local historic dis-
trict.”> As architect
Lois Lilley Howe
(1.7) described it in
1927, “The village

has the advantage of 1.4 a, b. Mary McGregor Means and Col. Robert Means, by Zedekiah Belknap
(1781-1858), c. 1815. Oil on canvas. 30 x 25 inches. Private collection.

its defects. The trol-
ley car has avoided it and it has not a tea room,—a gift
shop,—nor a hot dog stand. ...Hence it is that it has
kept its charm.”** And so it remains in 2009.

THE ASSOCIATIONS

The Col. Robert Means mansion has some interest-
ing associations, starting, of course, with the man who
built it. Robert Means (1742-1823) was of Scots-Irish
descent (1.4b). He immigrated to Boston in 1766 from
Stewartstown, Ireland, when he was 24 years old and
probably started life in America as an indentured

weaver to pay for his voyage."” By 1797, he was the
wealthiest man in Hillsborough County, having made
his fortune in both trade and real estate. He was active
politically and served in the state legislature when
John Langdon was governor. Coincidentally, Langdon
was finishing his mansion house in Portsmouth at the
same time that Means was building his in Amherst.*

Robert Means married Mary McGregor (1752—
1838) in the same
year that he moved
to Amherst (1.4a).
Mary was the daugh-
ter of the Rev. David
McGregor of Lon-
donderry, the leading
Presbyterian minister
in New Hampshire
and a renowned
evangelist of the
Great Awakening in
New England. Per-
haps because of her
intensely  religious
upbringing, she is
described in the family genealogy as a “terror to evil-
doers.” Mary “ruled her family with an absolute sway”
and was noted for throwing her firstborn, Thomas, out
of the house for “committing a sin against her moral
code.”** (Thomas impregnated a girl, who in turn fled
to Massachusetts and gave birth to their illegitimate
son James Robert Means around 1796.) Mary Means
holds the record for living in the house longer than
anyone to date—63 years.

Abby A. Means (1802-1857), née Abigail Atherton
Kent, married Robert Means Jr. and ended up inherit-
ing the house in 1842 upon her husband’s death (1.5).



1.5 Abby A. Means. Ambrotype taken in Lowell, Mass., c. 1852. A
slip of paper with the portrait says, “To my dearest Jane [Pierce].
Your affectionate friend. A. A. Means.” New Hampshire Historical
Society; gift of William P. Veillette.

She is important for two reasons: First, she made the
only major alterations to the house around 1846.
Second, she accompanied Jane Pierce to the White
House to assist the newly-minted First Lady with her
duties as hostess. Jane and Abby were cousins who
grew up together in Amherst.

When Jane Pierce (1806-1863), née Jane Appleton,
was 17 years old, she moved into the Means mansion
with her widowed mother and four siblings. Jane was a
granddaughter of Robert and Mary Means. She lived
in the house until she was twenty-eight, and it was
there that she was courted by Franklin Pierce while he
studied law under the local judge Edmund Parker. In a
poem on the occasion of Amherst’s centennial celebra-
tion in 1860, Deacon Boylston described Pierce during
his bachelor days in Amherst:

Thither an embryo President went—
Young Frank Pierce—on wisdom bent,
And, reciting his “AMO, AMAS, AMAT,”
Glanced at the girls with the glint of a cat!™®
Jane was obviously one of the girls who caught the
cat’s eye, and they married seven years later. Fifteen
months after their marriage, Jane gave birth to their
first son, Franklin Jr., in the Means mansion. The
newborn infant lived only a few days.®

Franklin Pierce (1804-1869) married Jane in the

parlor of the mansion on November 19, 1834. The af-
fair took all of thirty minutes and they hastily departed
for Washington, D.C., where Franklin was then serv-
ing in Congress. Eighteen years later, in 1852, he
would be elected President of the United States. Un-
fortunately, the wedding has become the event for
which the house is best known, resulting in it being
referred to locally as the “Franklin Pierce house.” This
has led to further confusion, such as the notion that
Pierce lived there. It is my life crusade to rebrand the
mansion as the “Col. Robert Means house.”

Daniel Webster (1782-1852) pled his very first case
in Amherst in 1805. It is oral tradition that he would
stay at the Means mansion when he had business be-
fore the court. Tradition also claims that he once got so
drunk that he spent the night passed out on the dining
room table (1.6). The table survives in Amherst.*’

1.6 Table on which Daniel Webster allegedly spent the night. Win-
ter kitchen-turned-dining room, Col. Robert Means mansion, c.
1896. Photograph by Charles T. Carruth. Collection of James and
Sarah Ramsay, Amherst, N.H.

In 1849, Henry David Thoreau (1817-1862) pub-
lished his first book, A Week on the Concord and Mer-
rimack Rivers. In it he describes Col. Robert Means
and others in the Merrimack River valley as “great”
men and writes that he “knocked at many doors, and
even made particular inquiries,” but “could not find
that there were any [great men] now living.”*® There is
no way of knowing if Thoreau knocked on the door of
the Means house.

Lois Lilley Howe (1864-1964) started the first all-
female architectural firm in Boston—Howe, Manning
& Almy—in 1913. She was also the first woman to
have been elected a Fellow of the American Institute
of Architects in 1931. As an architect, Howe designed
Colonial Revival houses for her clients, and docu-
mented historic buildings for her own education. In
1927, she wrote the monograph for The White Pine
Series on the Col. Robert Means mansion, one of two
monographs in the series that were devoted to an indi-
vidual New Hampshire house.” Her professional pa-
pers, which include notes and photographs from her



visit to the Means house, are now in the archives of the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology, where she
earned her degree in architecture.

THE HOUSE EXTERIOR

The Col. Robert Means mansion
is both a remarkable and an unre- |
markable structure. It is remarkable
for its location relatively far inland
(at the time) for such an elegant and
highly-crafted dwelling. Yet, it is
unremarkable for its “generic” qual-
ities. For sure, it is a high-style
Georgian mansion house; but, it
slavishly follows the traditional pat-
tern books of the day and lacks the
eccentricity or individuality that
could tie it to a known craftsman—
with perhaps one very small excep-
tion as we shall soon see.”

The house was built in stages
(1.8). The ell was completed in
1774 and may have started its life as
a 1% storey structure. The main
block was added in 1785. The small
carriage barn was either raised in
place or moved to the site sometime after 1835, then
connected to the ell by a one-storey back house, which
was used principally for storing cordwood to fuel
Means’s nine fireplaces. With the addition of these last
two buildings, the connected structure now conformed
neatly to the nineteenth century children’s verse, “big
house, little house, back house, barn.”?! Finally, the
large barn anchoring the west end was raised in 2001.

In the eighteenth century, houses were typically de-

1.7 Lois Lilley Howe. Photograph by Flo-
rence Maynard. The MIT Museum.

signed by joiners, not by architects. (Architecture did
not become a profession in America until the nine-
teenth century.) Craftsmen—and
sometimes their educated clients—
referred to pattern books and build-
ers’ guides for design ideas and
rules on measurements and propor-
tions. One such book that was popu-
lar during the Georgian period was
The Gentleman’s and Builder’s Re-
pository: or, Architecture Dis-
play’d, first published in London by
Edward Hoppus in 1737. Hoppus’s
Repository devotes considerable ink
to explaining “problems in geome-
try” and in providing “rules for
arches, doors, windows, ceiling-
pieces, chimney-pieces, and their
particular embellishments.” For ex-
ample, Plate 33 shows how to lay
out the proportions of a frontispiece.
Proportion is a hallmark of Geor-
gian design, and it is especially im-
portant to get it right on the most
prominent entrance of the house.
The proportions of the front door-
way of the Means mansion precisely
match those recommended by Hoppus (1.9). Because
Hoppus’s Repository is the only builder’s guide with
this specific plate in it, it is highly likely that the book
was used in designing the frontispiece of the Means
mansion.?

This example of a pattern book dictating proportion
also helps to bust a myth. Because the front door of the
Means house is a generous 44%” wide, people often
refer to it as a “coffin door.” As we can see by this

1.8 Col. Robert Means mansion, Amherst, N.H., April 22, 2004, showing its main block, ell, back house, small barn, and big barn. The

house was rehabilitated by William and Tracy Veillette between March 2001 and August 2003.
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1.9 a, b. Left: Plate 33 of Edward Hoppus’s The Gentleman’s and Builder’s Repository (1760 edition) showing how to lay out a frontis-
piece. Right: Frontispiece of Col. Robert Means mansion showing regulating lines matching Plate 33 of Hoppus’s Repository. Photograph

and drawing by John Butler, Hollis, N.H., July 30, 2003.

example, however, the proportions of the front door
had more to do with aesthetics than with the infrequent
need to move a coffin in and out of the house.
Symmetry is another hallmark of Georgian design.
There is a door on each of the four facades of the main
block of the house. The “door” on the east facade,
however, does not function—and never has. Notice
that there are no steps or hardware (1.10). What ap-
pears to be a door is actually one-inch thick raised
paneling that is nailed directly to the sheathing. This is
one of several examples in the Means mansion of the
joiner going “by the book”—even at extra cost—in
designing and building the house.
—_ . In terms of “embel-
= lishments,” balustrades
were a common feature
on hipped-roof houses of
both the Georgian and
Federal periods. The ear-
liest image of the Means
mansion is a wood en-
graving (1.11) that was
likely cut between 1846
and 1858.%° It shows a
balustrade wrapped
around the chimneys to
hide the ridge and hips
of the roof. This evi-
dence prompted us to

1.10 False door at east facade, of
Col. Means mansion, August 18,
2008.

restore the balustrade, which was likely removed in the
last half of the nineteenth century.

1.11 Detail of woodcut of Col. Robert Means mansion showing a
balustrade on the roof in either the diamond or Chinese style.

According to The Rules of Work, of the Carpenters,
in the Town of Boston (1800),* there are four styles of
“turrets” (i.e., balustrades):

Plain posts and rails with plancere per foot—.17¢
Diamond work turrets at per foot, run—.40¢
Chinese work, at- .50¢

Ballustrade straight work per foot- .75¢

My research revealed that the “plain posts and rails”
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1.12 Plate 85 of Hoppus’s Repository (1760 edition) showing Chi-
nese designs that are much more elaborate than those used for
roof-top balustrades in New England.

style appeared almost uniquely on gambrel roofs; the
“diamond,” “Chinese,” and “straight” (i.e., baluster)
styles appeared on both hipped and gambrel roofs; and
balustrades of any type appeared very infrequently on
gabled roofs.

Based solely on the woodcut, the balustrade of the
Means mansion was either in the diamond or the Chi-
nese taste. The price difference was not great between
the two, and one could argue it either way depending
on how much license one thinks the artist and engraver
exercised. Plates 85 through 90 of the 1760 edition of
Hoppus’s Repository show some very elaborate Chi-
nese patterns (1.12).° These patterns are much more
elaborate than those of any of the roof-top balustrades
that survive or are documented in New England that |
could find. More typical is the relatively simple pattern
found on the balustrade of the Gov. John Langdon
mansion in Portsmouth, which was built at nearly the
same time as the Means mansion.

The choice of which pattern to use would not be
entirely mine, however; the Amherst Village Historic
District Commission would have the final say. | knew
I was in for trouble when the one commissioner with a
degree in architecture objected to even restoring the
balustrade and blurted out, “Widows’ walks are found
only on the coast!” (The notion of a widow’s walk is a
myth, of course; balustrades are an architectural fea-

ture appropriate to any high-style Georgian house re-
gardless of location.”®) | immediately asked to table
the application, and the next month I returned with a
lesson plan. My turn was up at 10:00 p.m. and, when
the commissioners saw my eighty-eight page presenta-
tion, they immediately softened and wanted to move
straight to a vote on approving the application. I in-
sisted, however, on presenting my findings and me-
thodically took the next hour to do so. Having found
plenty of examples of both diamond and Chinese work
on extant buildings and in historic photographs of lost
buildings, | suggested the choice of either a simple
Chinese pattern from the Gen. Philip Schuyler man-
sion? in Albany, N.Y., which closely matched the art-
ist’s and engraver’s interpretation of the balustrade, or
a diamond pattern. The commission judged both op-
tions from a contemporary rather than an historic
point-of-view and felt that the diamond pattern evoked
lattice-work, which today is considered a cheap form
of fencing. So, the Chinese pattern won out.”®

The next question was, “How big should it be?” The
answer was again found in a builder’s guide book. The
Builder’s Dictionary: or, Gentleman and Architect’s
Companion (London, 1734)* calls for a balustrade to
be no more than “Breast-high” and gives measure-
ments based on the “Royal Paris Foot,” which trans-
lates to an English foot height of 3’-6” maximum and
2’-5” minimum:

BALUSTERS, BALISTERS,...

All Balustrades, being intended to be Breast-
high, none should ever exceed three Foot and a
quarter at most, not be lower than two Foot and
quarter at least. The Measures for this, to be tak-
en from the Royal Paris Foot, which is to the
English Foot, as 1068 to 1000.

The measurements of the “stuff” (i.e., stock) for the
“paling” (i.e., fretwork) came from Articles of the
Carpenters Company of Philadelphia: and Their Rules
for Measuring and Valuing House-Carpenters Work
(1786):%°

CHINESE railing, as per plate, figure 1, of stuff
near 5-8ths by 1% inches, per superficial foot,
-0-1-6

Ditto, framed of stuff 1% by 2 inches, per foot —
0-2-0

Ditto, as per plate, figure 2, near 5-8" by 1V
inches per foot, — 0-2-0

Ditto, near 1% by 2 inches, per foot, — 0-2-6

The final problem was the proper placement of the
balustrade on the roof. The answer lay in geometry. |
used a variant of the technique that Marcus Whiffen
demonstrates in his book, The Eighteenth-Century
Houses of Williamsburg,® as follows: The facade of



the house is placed tightly in a
square with the chimneys
touching the square’s top side.
An inverted equilateral trian-
gle is drawn in the square,
with the top of the square
forming the base of the trian-
gle. The apex of the inverted
triangle establishes the center
point of an imaginary circle.
From this center point, an arc
is drawn starting at one of the
eaves. The results show the
perfect geometry of the roof
of the mansion, with the arc
touching precisely where the

hips meet the ridge. The arc
also gives the upper limit for
locating the top of the balu-
strade (1.13). This technique,
of course, assumes an ortho-
graphic projection of the ele-
vation, which is not the view
that any building really en-
joys. The Means mansion,
however, is located in a rural village, which allows one
to view the building from quite a distance and even
slightly uphill, offering something approximating an
orthographic projection.*

The balustrade was built by Tony Hall of New Bos-
ton, N.H., out of cedar and mahogany. To avoid
weather and physical risk, he built it on the ground
under shelter and hoisted it in place on August 21,
2003. This act literally “topped-off” and marked the
end of the rehabilitation project. The final result looks
very convincing.

THE YARDS

The backyard of the Means mansion was originally
reserved for gardens. In 1837, Robert Means Jr. placed
an advertisement in The Farmers’ Cabinet to offer for
sale “The Mansion House of the late Col. Robert
Means” (1.14).% The ad described the garden as “large
and excellent, and well stocked with foreign grapes,
Antwerp raspberries, currants, plums, apples, &c.” The
lot is now less than half the size it was in 1837, leaving
insufficient room for recreating the historic garden
with all its fruit trees and bushes.

The front yard was dominated by Means’s store,
which must have attracted lots of traffic. When exca-
vating around the main block to improve drainage,
underneath the backhouse to dig out a crawl space, and
around the small barn to install a foundation, we dis-
covered a single layer of cobblestones buried just be-

1.13 Regulating lines on north fagade of Col. Robert Means mansion, showing the perfect geometry
of its hipped roof and the upper limit for the placement of its balustrade. Photograph and drawing
by William P. Veillette, November 26, 2003.

FOR SALE, , |
The Mansion Fouse
of the late Col. Robert Means, in]
“SRIBY. Ambherst, N. H., with the Store,
{Sheds, Barn, &c. The house isa large square
two story house, with a back kitchen, store
room, chamber, &ec. in the L. 'The Garden,
i large and excellent, and well stocked with
' foreign grapes, Antwerp raspberries, currants,
plums, apples, &c. A never failing well of
excellent water, and in the barn yard a trough
supplied by an aqueduct. The Store and out
houses are large and convenient.

The premises can be examined by any per-
son wishing to purchase at any time. Posses-
gion can be given in April next, as Mrs. Means,
the present occupant, will leave the house
before the first of May. :

For further particulars, enquire of Madam ;-
Means or Mrs. Appleton un the premises, or of |-
John Prentiss, Esq. at the Farmer’s Bank, or|
of the subscriber, Suffolk street, Lowell, Ma,

ROBERT MEANS.

Lowell, March 5, 18%7.

1.14 Col. Robert Means’s heirs made an unsuccessful attempt to
sell his “Mansion House™ for the first time in 1837. It would not be
offered for sale again until 1955, when the effort did succeed.

low grade in several of the formerly high-traffic areas.
These areas were at the west of the main block be-
tween it and where the store originally stood, at the



west of the small barn, and at the west of the ell. A
cross section of the earth shows that the cobblestones
were strewn directly on top of the loam (1.15). This
find prompted me to search for an alternative way to
pave the driveway once it was reconfigured.

B
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1.15 Layers of cobblestones were found buried just beneath the
surface on the west sides of the main block, ell, and small barn of
the Col. Robert Means mansion, April 7, 2001.

My initial thought was to use cobblestones as a pav-
er in the manner of Acorn Street on Beacon Hill in
Boston. Since there is no longer a market for cobbles-
tones, the only option would have been to negotiate
with a gravel pit owner to allow us to pick through his
“tailings” pile by hand for suitable stones.** The prob-
lem is that we would need 24,000 cobblestones to pave
the driveway and the time required to gather the ma-
terials in this manner would
have doubled the labor on the
project. In addition, | was
concerned about frost heave;
the ground freeze in coastal
Boston is less severe than in
Ambherst, and | could imagine
the stones popping out of the
ground.

Fortunately, the “Big Dig”
was underway and we were
able to acquire 12,000 nicely
worn Belgian blocks that had
formerly paved Summer
Street in Boston. The hand-
cut granite blocks reportedly
came from quarries at Cape
Anne. It took a mason and me
twelve weeks to install them.
The final result is not histori-
cally accurate for a rural vil-
lage, but has the virtue of us-
ing natural materials and be-
ing environmentally-friendly

1.16 Robbie relaxing in the center hall of the Col. Robert Means mansion, August 23, 2008.

in terms of mitigating storm water runoff.
THE HOUSE INTERIOR

The main block of the Col. Robert Means mansion
is a hipped-roof, double-house with a center hall plan.
The center hall is typical of the style, with a wide and
gently-rising staircase, raised-panel wainscot, and
classical cornice moldings. The railing of the staircase
marks the centerline of the house, with two rooms on
either side of the hall on both floors. The two massive
chimneys are at the interior of the floor plan, between
the front and back rooms.

Concerning staircases, Hoppus’s Repository warns
the reader:

...Stair-cases should be spacious, light, and easy
to ascend, that they may thereby invite, as it
were, the people to go up them. ...In making of
Stair-cases, the Ancients always observed this
Rule, That the Number of Steps to every Stair-
case should be odd, and not even, to the Intent,
that when you begin to ascend with your Right-
foot first (as most Persons generally do) you will
end with the same foot also.”*

The central staircase of the mansion is a “spacious”
four feet wide, the rise of its steps a “light” six inches,
and the treads an “easy” twelve inches (1.16). The car-
penter also observed the “Ancient Rule;” there are an
odd fifteen steps on the principal run to the landing,
and an odd five on the return to the second floor.




1.17 Profiles of moldings and construction detail of handrail on
central staircase of Col. Robert Means mansion, July 19, 2008.

Because the paint has been stripped from the hand-
rail of the staircase, we can clearly see how it was con-
structed. It is composed of three different moldings
that are glued and nailed to a rectangular railing. To
conform to where the rail-

certainly Palladian-inspired, but strictly speaking a
Palladian (or Venetian or Serlian) window also has a
set of vertical lights flanking each side of the compass
window.

The second floor of the center hall has a feature that
is uncommon, but not unique. The wall between the
hall and the sitting room chamber is hinged at the top
so that it can be lifted and hooked up to the ceiling of
the center hall (1.19). Robert Means might have had
the idea for this feature from the Nathan Kendall house
in Amherst, which has a smaller example of such a
wall in its upper hall.*” When the wall is up, it creates
a large room for dancing and card parties, which Ro-
bert Means reportedly enjoyed. The Rev. William
Bentley of Salem, Mass., visited the Meanses in 1797
and wrote in his diary, “Dancing forms a lovely
amusement & conversation has its richest pleasures in
their company. The House was disposed with taste &
hospitality was the element of their virtue.”®

Heading back down the stairs, it is easy to imagine
oneself in the shoes of the young bride Jane Appleton
as she descended the steps

ing curves, the carpenter
made a series of careful
wedge-shaped cuts in the
cap molding, which would
normally be concealed un-
der paint (1.17). As one
would expect, the curved
sections of the handrail
sweep upward in unison

to meet her groom Franklin
Pierce in the parlor to the
right. A witness to their
wedding wrote that Jane
“behaved sweetly and kept
up her courage to the
last,”* as if she were being
led to her execution! Pho-
tographs of the parlor tak-

with the opposing chair rail
of the wainscot, and the
profile of the chair rail
molding matches that of the upper portion of the hand-
rail. The construction of the stair balustrade and the
turnings on the balusters are also typical of the period.
The hand-carved rosettes on the stair panel might
provide the one example of a design interpretation that
could reflect the individuality of the carver who
worked on the house. The design for these rosettes
appears to have been adapted from one that is in Plate
57 of Hoppus’s Repository. The actual rosette differs
principally in that it employs concentric quatrefoils,
which evokes a somewhat Gothic look (1.18). Thus
far, | have been unable to find another example of this
double quatrefoil rosette in any surviving or docu-
mented historic house in New England. Although a
very long shot, it would make for a great story if this
unique rosette were to become the Holy Grail that
leads me to confirm the identity of the carver.*®
Lighting the staircase and hall is a compass window,
which was a traditional treatment for the rear wall of
the center hall at the stair landing. Compass windows
are often mistaken for Palladian windows. They are

1.18 Detail of rosette from Plate 57 of Hoppus’s Repository (left)
and from staircase panel at Col. Robert Means mansion (right).
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en around 1896 and 1927
show desiccated flowers in
a glass vase on the mantel
shelf (1.20). These flowers, which were set out for the
Pierces’ wedding, survived for 121 years in that room.
In 1955, when the house was sold out of the family,

———
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1.19 Paneled wall in center hall of the Col. Robert Means man-
sion, August 23, 2008. The wall is hinged so that it may be lifted up
and hooked to the ceiling to create a ballroom for dancing.



1.20 Parlor of Col. Robert Means mansion, ¢. 1896. Franklin and
Jane Pierce were married in this room on November 19, 1834. The
flowers on the mantel were set out for their wedding and preserved
there until 1955 when they were innocently tossed out. Photograph
by Charles T. Carruth. Historical Society of Amherst, N.H.

the new owners—not knowing the history of the flow-
ers—innocently disposed of them.

Aside from the Pierces’ wedding, the parlor is
known for its paneling. The carving on the chimney-
piece (1.21) is attributed to the shop of Maj. John Dun-
lap (1746-1792), who lived eight miles away in Bed-
ford, N.H. The attribution was made by Charles S.
Parsons and appeared in print in the catalog for the
1970 exhibition of Dunlap furniture at the Currier Gal-
lery of Art in Manchester, N.H. In making the attribu-

1.21 Detail of carving on chimneypiece in parlor of Col. Robert
Means mansion, ¢. 1927. Photograph by Kenneth Clark.

tion, Parsons described the carving as “the familiar
flowered ogee molding” of the Dunlap family.** Un-
fortunately, Parsons’ papers, which are now at the
New Hampshire Historical Society, do not reveal any
additional clues as to why he made this attribution. So,
we are left to start from scratch.

To begin, the most obvious thing to do is to com-
pare for ourselves Dunlap’s “floward og” [flowered
ogee] on his known furniture and paneling with the
embellished cyma reversa molding in the Means parlor
(1.22). Both carvings have undercuts along the fillet,
but this is where the similarity ends. The undercuts on
the Means moldings are a simple V-notch; those on the
Dunlaps’ work are a “-shape.”* The Dunlaps almost
always outline and accentuate their undercuts with an
incised line. There is also little or no space between
each undercut, which creates the effect of undulating
negative and positive waves. On the Means house
moldings, the undercuts are farther apart, which makes
for a larger field between them within which the de-
corative incisions are made. These embellishments
look like upside-down tulips.

1.22 Top: One of Hoppus’s proposed “embellishments™ for ogee
and astragal moldings (Repository, Plate 58). Middle: Carved
pattern on ogee and astragal moldings of parlor chimneypiece at

Col. Robert Means mansion. Bottom: “Flowered ogee” with
beaded astragal from a slant-top desk, 1780-1792, attributed to
Maj. John Dunlap. Currier Museum of Art, Manchester, N.H.; gift
of Lois Warren Shaw, 1962.15.

I could find no examples of the Dunlaps’ work that
had carving resembling the decoration on the Means
chimneypiece. | did, however, find almost exactly the
same carving in five historic houses in Massachusetts,
four of which were built in the middle of the eight-
eenth century, and one that was built just three years
before the Means house. They are: Shirley-Eustis
house, Roxbury (1747); King Hooper house (aka “The



Lindens” ), Danvers ** (1754); Dalton Club, Newbury-
port (c. 1760); Lee Mansion, Marblehead (1768); and
Peirce-Nichols house, Salem (1782). There is no evi-
dence in Parsons’ papers that he inspected the carvings
in these Massachusetts houses.*?

Although visual comparisons and the Massachusetts
examples suggest the attribution is wrong, there ac-
tually is still an evenhanded chance that John Dunlap
or his workshop might have done the carving—if not
more. Here is the case:

First, we found a scrap of the ogee molding in the
parlor walls on which there were pencil outlines of the
Dunlaps’ flowered pattern (1.23), which is interesting
by itself, but also shows that the chimneypiece was
built and carved on site rather than imported.**

1.23 Scrap of ogee molding, with pencil marks, found in wall of
parlor during sill repairs by Tony Hall on September 23, 2002.

Second, the Dunlaps were locals, and the closest
carvers to Amherst by a long shot.*

Third, John Dunlap’s surviving account books show
that the majority of his trade was with fellow Scots-
Irishmen.*®

Fourth, the Dunlap workshops turned out a few tra-
ditional pieces of furniture for customers who appar-
ently did not want his eccentric designs. So, we know
the Dunlaps were willing to eschew their own tastes to
satisfy those of a client by copying others’ work.*’

Fifth, shortly after his house was finished, Robert
Means, who was serving on the New Hampshire presi-
dent’s Privy Council, had John Dunlap’s name placed
into nomination for promotion to Major in the Ninth
Regiment of the New Hampshire militia.*® Given the
other two nominations that Means engineered at the
same time, this was clearly a reward to Dunlap for
some personal reason.** (Dunlap’s nomination was
accepted and he was appointed. So, it is thanks to Ro-
bert Means that we know him as Major John Dunlap.)

This final piece of evidence is intriguing. As noted
above, joiners—not “architects” as we know them to-
day—designed houses during this period. Could Ro-

12

bert Means have commissioned the most capable join-
er in the area to design and build him a house in the
manner of Jeremiah Lee’s and others’ mansions down
the Merrimack River valley? Could he have acquired a
copy of Hoppus’s Repository for Dunlap to use in the
undertaking?*® It certainly would make more sense for
Means to reward Dunlap for designing and building
him an entire house than it would for simply carving
him a chimneypiece. If this notion seems far-fetched,
the question remains open as to why Means would
reward Dunlap, a man with whom he—to the best of
our knowledge—had no other major interactions.”

Across the hall from the parlor is the sitting room,
which was used as a dining room by Abby Means after
1842. In 1846, Abby made several major changes to
the house when she replaced all of the 12-over-12
windows with the more stylish 6-over-6 windows
(and, probably, exterior shutters); hung wallpaper; in-
stalled a food pass-through; and removed the Georgian
architrave from the dining room fireplace, which she
replaced with a Greek Revival mantelpiece. This is the
only fireplace in the house that was altered. In addition
to the new mantel, the firebox was lined with thick
slabs of red sandstone.

To learn why just this one out of the nine fireplaces
was altered, we carefully removed the mantelpiece and
sandstone, which revealed the paint outline of the orig-
inal architrave that surrounded a much larger firebox
of brick in very good condition (1.24). Having made
this discovery, we decided to restore the missing
Georgian-style frame and preserve the larger firebox.
The restored fireplace works perfectly—it does not
smoke—so, we can only assume that Abby Means
wanted a sandstone liner to retain and radiate heat
more efficiently, covered by a contemporary mantel-
piece on which to place mementos.*

- |
1.24 Dining room fireplace, with Greek Revival mantelpiece and

sandstone liner removed, clearly showing paint outline of former
Georgian architrave and large brick firebox.

Another feature in the dining room that Abby
Means installed is a food pass-through to connect the
kitchen to the dining room (1.25). Lois Lilley Howe



described this as a “dastardly deed” because it required
the bake oven in the winter kitchen to be removed in
favor of a new closet for a “slide through” to the ad-
joining closet in the dining room.*® Such practical fea-

' tures were promoted by
Andrew Jackson Down-
ing in his 1842 book
Cottage Residences, and
it is interesting to see it
appear in the Means
house just four vyears
later. Next to the food
pass-through is a knob
connected by a wire to a
bell (1.26) in the former
kitchen. In Downing’s
words, the use of the bell
was “to bring the servant
to our room to learn our
wishes.”* Like Howe, |
was at first repulsed by
this alteration. But, when | learned more about Abby
Means’s role as Jane Pierce’s surrogate hostess in the
White House, |
decided to pre-
serve this au-
thentic evi-
dence of her
social focus
and  position
rather than re-
construct what
would be a
contrived bake
oven.

Away from the formal spaces, there are two sets of
stairs for common use. One set is at the west entrance,
which is the side of the house that faced Means’s store.
Its steps have very shallow treads, and wind 180 de-
grees to the second floor and a full 450 degrees to the
attic.”® They are well-worn as if everyone in the house
used them, not just the servants. The other set of stairs
is in the “back” Kkitchen in the ell and is used to access
the two servants’ chambers above (1.27). It is nothing
more than a straight, narrow, steep set of stairs boxed-
in with one-inch-thick boards and a door at the base.*®
Stairs like these are often the casualty of a renovation
because of either a concern for safety or the desire to
open them up to the room. Once they are removed or
altered, they cannot be restored because building codes
will not permit their narrow width and steep rise. It is
important to preserve rare features such as these that
cannot be replicated, rather than replace or alter them
with something that is simply ordinary.

The most difficult rehabilitation work was in the

1.25 The food pass-through was
a practical feature promoted by
Andrew Downing in 1842. Abby
Means installed hers in 1846.

1.26 Service bell in fo;mer winter kitchen of
Col. Means mansion, July 6, 2008.

1.27 Staircase in summer kitchen in ell of Col. Robert Means man-
sion, August 24, 2008. Such narrow, steep, boxed-in stairs are
becoming rare and should be preserved.

kitchen in the ell, which was modernized in the 1950s
and updated in the 1960s, 70s and 80s. The ell was the
location of the original summer kitchen, which once
had a substantial cooking fireplace and bake oven that
were likely removed between 1934 and 1954 by Agnes
Tucker Carruth in favor of a cast iron stove. Fortunate-
ly, the 10-foot-long granite hearth had been lowered
into the crawl space below the floor rather than broken
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1.28 Ed Gilligan and Graham Pendlebury install the hearth for the

missing fireplace in the summer kitchen, June 14, 2001. The hearth
was retrieved from the crawl space below.



up, and it was in perfect con-
dition. Likewise, the original
7Y% brick had been used for
paving the front sidewalk and
was in good enough shape to
reclaim for facing the visible
portion of a reconstructed
fireplace. Once the modern
sheetrock was removed, the
timber framing revealed clear-
ly where the fireplace and
bake oven had been located
relative to one another. The
new opening of the firebox is
slightly smaller than its origi-
nal because we wanted to
comply with fire codes, and
the breastwork is of course
contrived. The work was done
by mason Graham Pendlebury
and his tender Ed Gilligan,
both of New Boston, N.H.,
(1.28). The final result is con-
vincing to all but seasoned
architectural historians, as intended (1.29).

The fireplace hardware presented another test. We
tried to locate a cast iron bake oven door from one of
Ambherst’s nineteenth-century foundries, but to no
avail.”” Rather than use random antique hardware,
blacksmith David Court of Northfield, N.H., made the
door units for the bake oven and ash pit, an adjustable
crane, and a lintel with built-in glove warmers.*® Be-
cause we intended to use the bake oven, it was impor-

g -~ tant to have the
door “unit” in-
clude both the
vent and built-in
damper, which
are the principal
technical advan-
tages of the cast
iron door design.
Such units may
be seen in old
homes through-
out Ambherst
(1.30). They
were sold as upgrades to traditional bake ovens that
employed wooden plugs to block their openings.

The new bake oven with its reproduction door unit
cooks as well as an authentic one. There is much con-
fusion about how bake ovens work, which makes it
worth explaining briefly: The damper is opened and a
fire is built directly in the oven (not in the ash pit) out
of hardwood that has been cut and split into small

1.30 Cast iron bake oven door unit made in

Amherst, N.H. The pull-tab at the top oper-
ates a built-in damper, and the vent is
weighted to stay in the open position.
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1.29 Reconstructed fireplace in summer kitchen in ell of Col. Robert Means mansion, November 19,
2006. The spit turning the chicken is powered by a mechanical "spit-jack."

pieces. The fire is kept burning for several hours to
heat the brick of the dome (1.31). When the black car-
bon of the initial fire burns completely off of the brick
dome (i.e., turns to white ash), the oven is hot enough
for cooking. The fire and coals are shoveled out of the
bake oven into the adjacent fireplace, and the deck of
the oven is swabbed
down with a round straw
broom that is repeatedly
dipped in a bucket of
water. The damper is
shut and—after the oven
comes down to the prop-
er temperature—the
food is inserted and the
door closed.®® The food
cooks by the radiant heat
of the brick dome. The
ash pit is not used for
cooking; its function was
to store excess ashes
from the firebox for use later in making soap.

Another challenge of the kitchen rehabilitation was
determining where to put the modern appliances. With
the reconstruction of the massive fireplace, there
would be no room left in the ell for anything besides a
kitchen table. Although the Historic District Commis-
sion only had purview over exterior work, it was sym-
pathetic to our goal of restoring the historic fireplace at
the interior and allowed us to build a small, one-storey
addition for the modern necessities. We also restored

1.31 Heating the bake oven.



1.32 The winter kitchen, pictured here, retains its original beaded
pine board sheathing. Similar sheathing in the summer kitchen was
a victim of successive modernizations and has now been restored.
Interior shutters such as those shown here were used for privacy,
shade, and warmth—not for protection against Indian attacks.

the original pantry that had been removed to create a
breakfast nook, which returned the first floor plan of
the ell to its original configuration. To finish it off, the
interior was sheathed with reclaimed, beaded white
pine boards installed horizontally, which replicates the
original wall treatment that had been removed long
ago in favor of sheetrock (1.32). Rather than restore
the historic plaster ceilings to cover the beams that had
been innocently exposed by former owners, we boxed
in the beams to conserve pre-
cious ceiling height.?® Other
than in barns and sheds,
beams in Georgian style
buildings were traditionally
hidden behind lath and plas-
ter, or boxed in.

The privy was the one pure
preservation component of
the project. It was perfectly
intact and simply needed
some conservation work. For
a privy, it was quite luxurious
at the time: It is indoors (in
the small barn), finished with
plaster, and has multiple
holes. There are three holes
for adults, one for small
children, and a square hole
for emptying chamber pots. It
is unlikely that people used
the privy together. | surmise

between at least the men and the women for the sake
of inter-gender harmony.®*

The cellar, which completes the historic tour, was
originally used for both household storage and as a
warehouse for Robert Means’s excess store inventory.
Access to the cellar from the store was through a bulk-
head, which was on the west side of the house where
the store used to stand. With the store long gone and

VSt

1.33 The privy, August 23, 2008. Other than conservation work,
the privy has not changed since its original installation.

the principal entrance for visitors now on that west
facade facing the driveway, | moved the bulkhead to
the rear (south) of the house to be out of view. The
cellar can also be accessed from the interior and, since
its restoration, has become the most popular part of the
tour. A very unusual feature is its cobblestone floor

that the multiple holes al-
lowed for assigned seating

1.34 Robert Means stored items in the cellar for both the household and his store. The cobblestone
floor was restored by Peter Veillette in the summer of 2007.

15



(1.34), which was laid much more carefully than the
cobblestone paving we found buried under the loam
outside. About twenty percent of the floor had been
torn up to fill in a basement well-hole (and for other
reasons), so we reclaimed some of the buried cobbles-
tones from outside to repair it. My 17-year-old son
Peter and | disassembled a sound portion of the floor
to learn how it was laid and, having determined how to
proceed, he made the repairs. To finish it off, Peter
vacuumed out the 222-year-old dirt from between the
stones and brushed in clean sand. Several years before,
I had relocated the boiler and oil tanks out of the main
cellar, which now is mostly unobstructed and—thanks
to Peter’s work—Ilooks as it did in Robert Means’s
day.

THE BIG BARN

While the purpose of the project was to rehabilitate
the historic house, we also took the opportunity to cor-
rect a serious flaw and add to the house’s architectural
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1.35 The former shed hid the pleasing form of the small barn, and
created a sea of asphalt that was good for sports, but bad for the
eye. Photographed May 11, 1998.

history. A one-bay shed garage had been attached to
the small barn, perhaps as early as the 1885 “pleasant
improvements” made by Anna Kent Carruth and her
mother. The shed had two issues: It was very poorly
constructed and—having been built in the same plane
as the north facade of the small barn—it obscured the
pleasing form of the latter. The visual damage already
done, a car collector who purchased the house in the
late 1970s added another garage bay to the shed, and
extended the entire structure to the rear to accommo-
date five vehicles in all (including the small barn). The
1970s construction was of good quality, but the now
three garage-door openings (two in the shed and one in
the small barn) expanded the width of the driveway to
create a large sea of asphalt (1.35). The driveway was
great for playing street hockey, but it (and the shed)
made an unpleasant first-impression for visitors and
detracted from the beauty of the historic house.

The obvious solution was to remove the entire shed
to re-expose the full form of the small barn. But then
where to garage the cars? Another structure would
have to be built to replace the shed. We decided to
erect a second barn immediately behind and butting up
against the small barn. And to reduce the driveway’s
width, we moved the garage entrance of the small barn
from its gable-front on the north to its eave-side on the
west. To add to the architectural history of the house,
the new barn would be framed with timbers in the
manner of the revival of the ancient craft that has been
underway since the nation’s bicentennial (1.36, 1.37).
The Timber Frame Revival was started by people like
Tedd Benson of Walpole, N.H., and Jack Sobon of
Windsor, Mass., and its epicenter is arguably south-
western New Hampshire and western Massachusetts.

The Timber Frame Revival brings back the sev-
enteenth-century aesthetic of exposed posts and beams
that are decorated with chamfers. The principal differ-
ences between today’s frames and those of the seven-
teenth century are: The timbers are machine-planed
rather than hand-hewn; they are joined by the “square-
rule” rather than the “scribe-rule” method; and they

1.36 Barn-raising, September 10, 2001, as seen from the back
yard. Will Truax of Center Barnstead, N.H., is coaxing purlins into
place. The frame was raised in one day.
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1.37 Bill Veillette nailing a bough of white pine to the peak of the
barn frame, September 10, 2001. It is tradition to consecrate a
frame with a bough from the species of tree from which it was cut.
The frame of the big barn at the Col. Robert Means mansion is
mostly eastern white pine for the posts and beams, and white oak
for the braces. Photograph by Tracy Veillette.

are typically pinned with wooden dowels in straight
holes drilled after the frame has been raised rather than
with “treenails” in offset holes drilled ahead of the

- raising. We followed
the revival’s style,
with the exception of
using dowels, which
apparently have a ten-
dency to spin in, or
fall out of, their holes
as the frame dries.

The frame was de-
signed by Kyle
Whitehead of Brad-
ford, New Hampshire.
Kyle also worked on
the frame, but most of
the joinery was hand-
cut by his apprentice,
Jeremy Woodliff. Be-

1.38 Initials of Kyle Whitehead and
Jeremy Woodliff, with date of rais-
ing, are carved into king post.
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cause the garage doors would be on the eave side,
Kyle based the frame on an “English barn,” an early
New England barn type. The raising was on September
10, 2001, the day before the terrorist attacks on the
World Trade Center in New York City. Having raised
a frame in one day that will last many centuries, we
went to bed that evening on a high note. The next day,
when the opposite happened to the World Trade Cen-
ter, the wind went out of our sails. The date of the
frame’s raising, as well as Kyle’s and Jeremy’s in-
itials, are carved into the king post for posterity (1.38).

THE FUTURE

There is always more to be learned or to restore. |
continue to research the genealogy of the family, espe-
cially its most intriguing mysteries: To whom might
Robert Means have been indentured when he arrived
in America? Whom did young Thomas impregnate?
What prompted Col. Means to resign his senate seat
half way through his term in 1791? And, why did Ro-
bert and Mary Means wait 43 years before quitting
Londonderry’s Presbyterian church to be received into
Ambherst’s Congregational church at the twilight of

1.39 Tile removed from parlor fireplace in late 1950s, manufac-
tured by Sadler and Green of Liverpool, England, 1757-1775.

their lives? As for restoration projects, the list is now
considerably shorter, but no less interesting. It includes
analyzing paint layers to both understand the original
color scheme and validate hypotheses about changes to
the house; reproducing and reinstalling the historic
wallpaper; carefully hand-scraping the polyurethane
off of the floors and repainting them; freeing the mov-
able wall in the upper hall; restoring the servant’s
chamber in the attic; and restoring the ceramic tiles



long-removed from the fireplace surround in the parlor
(1.39). Then there are the archival tasks—creating a
complete set of detailed measured drawings and pho-
tographs to document the physical structure; writing a
book to tell the story of the house and its occupants;
and donating my papers and photographs to the New
Hampshire Historical Society.

Finally, one must always consider what might seem
incredible—a future owner who innocently, ignorant-
ly, or intentionally destroys the historic features of the
Col. Robert Means mansion. Realistically, the chance
is actually quite high that, at some point, the urges of a
future owner to satisfy his or her personal tastes and
comfort will trump the hopes of the community that
the house be preserved. The Amherst Village Historic
District Commission theoretically provides protection
to the house’s exterior, but the commission’s effec-
tiveness is limited by the competence and fortitude of
those who sit on it at any given time. The commission
is also a political body exposed to conflicts of interest
and susceptible to being pressured. And the interior
of the house, of course, is entirely vulnerable. Fortu-
nately, there is a solution; an historic preservation
easement can be used to protect one, some, or all of
the historic features of a house by granting the rights
to alter the identified elements to a qualified preserva-
tion organization. As soon as practicable, we intend to
donate a preservation easement to the Society for the
Preservation of New England Antiquities (dba Historic
New England) to preserve the most important historic
attributes of the Col. Robert Means mansion in perpe-

tuity.
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Means house in the 1950s.

8 Henry David Thoreau, A Week on the Concord and Merrimack
Rivers (New York: Houghton, Mifflin & Co., 1893), pp. 334-335.
1% The other is the Col. Paul Wentworth house, Salmon Falls, N.H.
(1701). The Wentworth house was moved to Dover, Mass., in
1937, returned to Rollinsford, N.H., in 2002, and opened to the
public in 2005.

20 Abbott Lowell Cummings of Deerfield, Mass., gets the credit for
being the one to describe the house to me as “generic.”

! Thomas Hubka, Big House, Little House, Back House, Barn:
The Connected Farm Buildings of New England (Hanover, N.H.:
University Press of New England, 1984), p. 6.

22 John Butler of Hollis, N.H., who has an impressive knowledge
of builders’ guides and pattern books, and Abbott Lowell Cum-
mings share the credit for attributing features of the Means man-
sion to Hoppus’s Repository. Lois Lilley Howe was apparently
unaware of the connection, judging from her musings about the
house in The White Pine Series (p. 103): “And as we look at all the
refinements of the finish even at some of its naiveties and crudities,
we wonder where and how the weaver who peddled his goods
about the country learned how to choose his proportions and de-
tails so wisely.” Thanks to John and Abbott, we now know.

2% Secomb, p. 689.

2 Lawrence B. Romaine (ed.), “The Rules of Work, of the Carpen-
ters, in the Town of Boston,” Old-Time New England, XLV, No. 3
(Winter 1955), p. 81. This reference was provided by James L.
Garvin, State Architectural Historian, New Hampshire Division of
Historical Resources.

% Edward Hoppus, The Gentleman’s and Builder’s Repository: or,
Architecture Display’d, Fourth Edition (London: Printed for C.
Hitch and L. Hawes, et al, 1760).

% In a correspondence with George Washington, Dr. William
Thornton wrote in reference to balustrades that it is “a Desideratum
in Architecture to hide as much as possible the Roof.” See William
Thornton to George Washington, December 25, 1798, copy in
Papers of George Washington, Office, Alderman Library, Univer-
sity of Virginia, Charlottesville.

2" Tony Hall of New Boston, N.H., who built the balustrade, gets
the credit for bringing to my attention a photograph of the Schuyler
mansion that he found in Bill Harris’s Grand Homes of the Mid-
Atlantic (New York: Crescent Books; distributed by Crown Pub-
lishers, 1989), p. 15. | subsequently visited the mansion to photo-
graph its balustrade and get a copy of its historic structure report.

%8 | am indebted to Jim Garvin for his expert research and opinions
on the balustrade design. Jim did not rule out Chinese work, but



concluded that diamond work was more common in New Hamp-
shire. Nonetheless, | am satisfied with the historic district commis-
sion’s decision to use the Schuyler house’s balustrade pattern as |
also favored it, although for different reasons. My reasons were: 1)
The Schuyler house’s Chinese pattern almost exactly matches the
engraver’s interpretation in the woodcut. As long as a Chinese
pattern was plausible, | was reluctant to deviate any more from the
already second-generation interpretation (i.e., the engraving, which
was based on a first-generation drawing) and risk adding yet a
third interpretation to the mix; 2) Other evidence suggests that the
house’s design may have been influenced more by Massachusetts
than New Hampshire architecture. (See the discussion below on
the attribution of the Dunlap carving in the parlor.) And Chinese
work appears to have been more prevalent in Massachusetts.

% Terrence M. Russell, The Encyclopaedic Dictionary in the Eigh-
teenth Century: Architecture, Arts and Crafts; Volume 3: The
Builder’s Dictionary (Aldershot, England: Ashgate Publishing,
1997), p. 46.

% Articles of the Carpenters Company of Philadelphia: and Their
Rules for Measuring and Valuing House-Carpenters Work (Phila-
delphia: Printed by Hall and Sellers, 1786), p. 34. This reference
was provided by Jim Garvin.

® Marcus Whiffen, The Eighteenth-Century Houses of Williams-
burg: A Study of Architecture and Building in the Colonial Capital
of Virginia, revised edition (Williamsburg, Va.: The Colonial Wil-
liamsburg Foundation, 1984), pp. 83-88.

% In an orthographic projection, related views of an object are
presented as if they were all in the same plane and projected in a
single view. Elevation drawings, for example, are orthographic
projections.

* The Farmers’ Cabinet, Vol. 35, No. 32 (Amherst, N.H., April 7,
1837), p. 4.

3 Tailings are the stones that are left over at the “tail” end of mul-
tiple screenings of gravel.

% Hoppus, Repository, pp. 91-92.

% Also note that the petals of the quatrefoil are heavily drilled or
punched, which may be another clue as to the geographical influ-
ence of the carving or the home base of the carver.

%" The Nathan Kendall house is at 6 Mack Hill Rd., Amherst, N.H.

% William Bentley, D.D., The Diary of William Bentley, D.D.,
Pastor of the East Church, Salem, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, January,
1793 — December, 1802 (Salem, Mass.: The Essex Institute, 1907),
pp. 232-233. Betsy Garrett Widmer found this reference.

¥ Means, p. 240.

40 Charles S. Parsons, The Dunlaps & Their Furniture (Manches-
ter, N.H.: The Currier Gallery of Art, 1970), pp. 16 and 21, end-
notes 86 and 87, and Fig. 101.

41 Let’s call this a bracket shape.

“2 The paneling of the King Hooper house’s hall was sold in 1933
to the co-located William Rockhill Nelson Gallery of Art and Mary
Atkins Museum of Fine Art in Kansas City, Mo., now known as
The Nelson-Atkins Museum of Art. The rest of the house was dis-
assembled and moved to 2401 Kalorama Rd. NW, Washington,
D.C., where it survives today. See Sandra Fleishman, “The Man-
sion That Found A 2nd Home,” The Washington Post (October 22,
2005), p. F1.

43 Based on his notes, Parsons believed the Dunlaps’ flowered ogee
was influenced by the carving on the chimneypiece in the Gover-
nor’s Council Chamber of the Wentworth-Coolidge house, Little
Harbor, N.H. | think he was he too parochial in looking for clues to
the origins of Dunlap’s work only within the artificial (i.e., go-
vernmentally-decreed) borders of New Hampshire. Bedford and its
surrounding towns were tied economically more to the Merrimack
River valley and Boston than to the Piscataqua region. Indeed,
Dunlap died in Billerica, Mass., on a return trip from Boston. See
Philip Zea and Donald Dunlap, The Dunlap Cabinetmakers: A
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Tradition in Craftsmanship (Mechanicsburg, Pa.: Stackpole Books,
1994), p.15.

“ This scrap piece of ogee molding, with its original pencil draw-
ing, was found in the east wall of the parlor by carpenter Tony
Hall, New Boston, N.H., on September 23, 2002, while inspecting
and repairing sills. The molding profile matches that of the cyma
reversa element of the three-part bolection molding on the archi-
trave surrounding the firebox in the parlor. It is curious that the
pencil drawing on the molding exactly matches the design of the
“floward og” [flowered ogee] of the Dunlap family of cabinetmak-
ers, rather than that of the Massachusetts-inspired carving on the
chimneypiece of the Means house parlor itself; it is as though
someone had drawn on the scrap piece with pencil to demonstrate
the Dunlap design, then tossed it into the wall cavity. Without a
doubt, this scrap piece with its pencil drawing dates to the 1785
construction of the main block of the Means house; the clapboards
and sills in this area had never been disturbed, and scraps of other
molding types from the parlor were found mixed in with original
construction debris resting on the sills within the parlor walls. As
for whether carved ogee stock could have been imported and simp-
ly assembled by the Dunlaps (or others), there are clues in the
carving itself to suggest that this is unlikely. For example, the carv-
ing within the small crosettes at the corners of the architrave shows
how the incised design was altered in process to fit within the very
short runs of molding between the miter joints (1.21). Also, not a
single carved pattern is cut through at the miter joint, which indi-
cates the pattern was laid out and carved after the miters were ei-
ther marked or cut.

*® There is evidence that Robert Means used other local talent to
build his mansion. A board in the southernmost attic dormer bears
the chalk inscription, “Ebenezer Mills 1784.” Ebenezer was the 14-
year-old son of Capt. John Mills, a carpenter living in the north-
west parish of Amherst (now Mont Vernon). The construction of
the dormers indicates that they were installed as the sheathing went
on the frame (i.e., the dormers are not framed—they are simply
constructed out of sheathing material). It is plausible that Means
hired Mills to frame and “board” his house.

%6 Zea and Dunlap, p. 14. Zea describes the Scots-Irish as a close-
knit community that, “symbolically or coincidentally, ...liked to
move among themselves.” Unfortunately, as Parsons recognized,
the Dunlaps’ “account books do not record any work at this
house.” (Parsons, p. 16.) But, John Dunlap appears to have made
regular purchases from Robert Means’s brother-in-law, Robert
McGregor, including tools and glass for window sash. (Parson, p.
22 and endnote 83.) Could McGregor have recommended Dunlap
to Means?

47 Zea and Dunlap, pp. 23 (Fig. 9) and 24; Parsons, Fig. 6.

“ New Hampshire Provincial and State Papers (hereinafter
NHSP), XX, pp. 811 and 825.

“ The other two nominations were: Robert McGregor of
Goffstown for colonel of the Ninth Regiment of the militia, and
Joshua Atherton of Amherst for justice of the peace of Hillsbo-
rough County. Robert McGregor was Means’s brother-in-law.
Joshua Atherton was his neighbor and closest friend, whose daugh-
ter, Catherine, and granddaughter, Abigail Kent, married Means’s
sons, David and Robert Jr., respectively. Robert Means clearly
used his position as councilor to reward his relative, associate, and
best friend. Ironically, one year before Means was elected to the
council, he served on a committee “to enquire into the conduct of
the Council the past year.” (NHSP, XX, p. 347.) One of the accusa-
tions was that councilors were enriching their friends and relatives
by appointing them to civil and military offices.

% Unfortunately, Means’s probate inventory does not survive, so
we do not know what books he owned. And there is no conclusive
evidence in John Dunlap’s inventory that he had any pattern books
in his possession when he died. (Parsons, pp. 36-37 and 58.)



! Dunlap’s surviving account books, photographed copies of
which are in the Parsons papers at the New Hampshire Historical
Society, show no entries for any transactions with Robert Means. If
Dunlap did design and build the house, either he or Means could
have kept a separate account book just for the project. Tantalizing-
ly, Parsons discovered that “plans as well as an account book”
were sold by the Dunlap family in the 1930s, “but these cannot be
traced.” (Parsons, pp. 7 and 22.) The manuscripts were sold with a
tall clock that is now owned by Amherst College, Amherst, Mass.
52| figure she wanted a mantel for mementos because she also had
a thin board installed to create a minimal mantel shelf in the parlor.
*% Howe, p. 102.

5 Andrew Jackson Downing, Cottage Residences; Or, a Series of
Designs for Rural Cottages and Cottage Villas, and their Gardens
and Grounds Adapted to North America, 4™ ed., revised and im-
proved (New York: Wiley & Halsted, 1856), p. 6.

> The width of the west entrance steps is 30, rise is 8”, and tread
is 7%2".

%6 The dimensions of the kitchen steps are variable, but, roughly,
their width is 357, rise is 9”, and tread is 9”.

5| finally found a complete bake oven door unit (1.30) made in
Ambherst, N.H., six years later on eBay! It is now a promised gift to
the New Hampshire Historical Society.

%8 What I call glove warmers are wrought iron arms that are pinned
to and swing out from the lintel. There is an original glove warmer
built into the lintel of the fireplace in the southeast room of the
main block of the house.

% Experienced users will insert an arm into the oven to judge the
temperature by feel. It’s less painful to use an oven thermometer.

% The ceilings were originally 6’-8” tall when the beams were
hidden behind wooden lath and plaster. They are now nearly 7’
tall.

% Privies have no seat rings for men to lift up and out of the “line
of fire,” which must have been a source of constant annoyance to
the women of those poorer households with “one-holers.”

82 For example, occasionally applicants—in an attempt to gain
advantage—will hire a commissioner or his employee to represent
them before the commission. (This is clearly unethical, but the
rationalization is that it is not illegal.) Although the conflicted
commissioner might recuse himself from voting, his presence and
his employee’s advocacy put pressure on his voting peers, which
can result in unfortunate rulings.
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